
 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 1 of 10 

TRUCKEE MEADOWS WATER AUTHORITY  

MINUTES OF THE FEBRUARY 15, 2017  

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Board of Directors met on Wednesday, February 15, 2017, at Sparks Council Chambers, 745 4th 

Street, Sparks, Nevada. Acting Chair Hartung called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m. 

 

1.  ROLL CALL 

Members Present: Jenny Brekhus, Alternate Member Kristopher Dahir, Naomi Duerr, Vaughn Hartung, 

Jeanne Herman, Neoma Jardon, and Ron Smith. 

Member Absent: Geno Martini 

A quorum was present. 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Bill Hauck, TMWA Senior Hydrologist. 

 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There was no public comment. 

 

4. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Upon motion by Member Smith, second by Member Jardon, which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board approved the agenda. 

 

5. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 18, 2017 MINUTES 

Upon motion by Member Smith, second by Member Dahir, which motion 

duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the Board 

approved the December 21, 2016 minutes. 

 

6. WATER SUPPLY UPDATE 

Bill Hauck, TMWA Senior Hydrologist, reported the recent storms are one of the best starts to the water 

year in recent history. Mr. Hauck stated the precipitation and snowpack levels are measured at more than 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 2 of 10 

160% of the average, Lake Tahoe is almost 3.2 feet above the natural rim (more than 50% full) and is 

expected to fill in 2017, precautionary releases began at Lake Tahoe, and Stampede and Lahontan 

reservoirs, and normal river flows are projected for several years. 

Acting Chair Hartung confirmed if there were no more rain/snow storms, it would still be about 160% of 

normal and if there was any danger if the level at Lake Tahoe exceeded its maximum level. Mr. Hauck 

replied with some melt off, ground absorption, there would still be significant snowpack by the end of 

March; and everyone is taking preemptive measures at all the lakes and reservoirs, and about 2,500 cubic 

feet per second can be released from Lake Tahoe. 

Alternate Member Dahir inquired if there are any concerns with the dams. Mr. Hauck replied no, TMWA 

dams are in good condition, however there is high run-off at Donner Lake which staff is monitoring. Mark 

Foree, TMWA General Manager, added staff issued a precautionary statement to Donner Lake front 

property owners regarding the potential for flooding. Andy Gebhardt, TMWA Director of Operations and 

Water Quality, reported staff worked well with the Town of Truckee Fire and Police departments to ensure 

residents were communicated with appropriately to take precautions. 

Acting Chair Hartung asked about the ability to release water at Donner Lake and if there was concern for 

an increase in melt off as well as any liabilities if Donner Lake flooded. Mr. Hauck replied 500 cubic feet 

per second (cfs) can be released when the lake is full and no, there are no concerns. Pat Nielson, TMWA 

Director of Distribution, Maintenance and Generation, added TMWA crew are going up to Donner Lake 

daily to ensure there are no issues. Michael Pagni, TWMA General Counsel, replied there was some 

potential for exposure related to flooding. 

 

7. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION AND DIRECTION TO STAFF 

REGARDING 2017 LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITIES, CURRENT BILLS, AND TMWA 

RECOMMENDED POSITIONS ON LEGISLATIVE PROPOSALS 

John Zimmerman, TMWA Water Resources Manager, informed the Board that the TMWA Legislative 

Subcommittee met on February 10 to review the staff recommendations on positions on proposed bills. 

The legislative subcommittee approved all recommended positions. Staff is continuing to track bill draft 

requests (BDRs) as they become bills and will continue to update both the TMWA legislative 

subcommittee and Board.  

Acting Chair Hartung commented on how well the presentation made by TMWA to the Senate Natural 

Resources and Assembly Natural Resources, Agriculture and Mining committees was received.  

Mr. Foree agreed it went very well and they are invited every session to present on Water Day. 

Steve Walker, TMWA Lobbyist, added many legislators told him how informative the presentation was. 

Mr. Walker noted that Chair Heidi Swank asked why TMWA did not have an aggressive conservation 

program much like Southern Nevada. He informed her that the cui-ui fish drives the conservation program 

and water saved does not create a resource. 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 3 of 10 

Member Duerr asked if there was a policy of using conserved water for growth. Mr. Foree replied no, the 

Truckee River Operating Agreement (TROA) does not allow it and all conserved water is either preserved 

in upstream reservoirs or flows into the Truckee River and to Pyramid Lake. 

Mr. Walker and Mr. Pagni provided an overview of the bills introduced since the January 18 meeting and 

actions taken by the TMWA Legislative Subcommittee on February 10.  

Discussion revolved around AB107, sealing records of tenants who are evicted, which may be an issue 

for TMWA regarding payment of bills.  

Member Brekhus noted that in the City of Reno approximately 50% of residents are renters and this bill 

may be problematic. Mr. Walker replied it would more likely be amended since Nevada has a loose 

eviction law. 

Discussion continued regarding AB113, making accommodations for nursing mothers, with Member 

Jardon questioning the position of Neutral and not Support. Mr. Pagni replied because it creates a cause 

of action for employees.  

Member Smith recommended it be changed to Support. 

Mr. Pagni discussed AB193, BDR 40-716, which would require fluoridation of the water supply in 

Washoe County.  Specifically it would obligate TMWA to fluoridate its water supply and is similar to the 

bill that was introduced in 2009. Under existing law water can only be fluoridated if the voters approve 

that by a majority vote in an election.   Mr. Pagni noted that voters in Washoe County had voted on this 

issue in 2002, and 58% voted against fluoridation. AB193 mandates, from the state, that the State Board 

of Health would require TMWA to fluoridate its water supply. He noted staff conducted a preliminary 

fiscal impact analysis to fluoridate the supply; to rehabilitate the surface water plants and all 83 wells. 

Preliminary estimates are about $67 million for capital improvements and $3 million for operating 

expenses and would translate to about 8.8% increase in customer rates. Mr. Pagni requested a position 

from the Board. 

Acting Chair Hartung clarified that this bill mandates the changes to TMWA’s system and circumvents 

the public voting process. Mr. Pagni replied yes. 

Member Smith inquired if the 8.8% increase would be on top of the proposed 3% rate adjustment. Mr. 

Pagni replied that is correct. 

Member Duerr inquired who was responsible for writing up the fiscal note, would the rehabilitation occur 

at the central treatment plant and not at the wells, and where is the water treated. Mr. Pagni replied TMWA 

is responsible for the fiscal note. Mark Foree, TMWA General Manager, added as the bill is written, it 

would require TMWA to fluoridate at all sources, including the 83 wells, which drives the majority of the 

capital costs. 

Member Duerr stated she is neutral on the fluoridation model, which has a positive impact on public 

health, and would like to learn more about the fiscal note. Mr. Foree remarked that TMWA hired a third-

party consultant to provide the estimate based on the bill language, which would require all sources to 

have fluoridation facilities. 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 4 of 10 

Member Hartung noted it would be futile to require TMWA to fluoridate its water if it was not provided 

to all customers.  

Member Jardon expressed her concern about the fiscal note, but more importantly circumventing the vote 

of the people, as it exists today, the majority said no. Mr. Walker noted in 2009, the bill was amended to 

say “you can fluoridate as long as you go back to people”, which passed the Senate, but not the House. 

He noted the Board should expect amendments during the legislative session. 

Discussion followed regarding TMWA’s water supply, 80% surface water and 20% wells, that the 

majority of the costs would be associated with the wells, and if the ratio changed during a period of 

drought. Mr. Foree replied the majority of the cost would be associated with the wells, and the ratio has 

been up to approximately 20% in recent non-drought years and possibly more in drought years, and can 

changed depending on operational circumstances. 

Member Herman stated she is against fluoridation and supports the voters. She inquired what the cost 

would be to remove the fluoride before it returns to the river, and expressed her doubts that the PLPT 

would approve. Mr. Pagni replied the fiscal note prepared was for TMWA to put the fluoride in, but not 

the cost if fluoride needs to be removed before it returns to the river.  Those costs would need to be 

prepared by TMWRF.  

Member Dahir pointed out TMWA has improved its water operations at a cost in the past, but the issue is 

the State circumventing the voters. Clark County voted to fluoridate its water supply at a significant cost 

and has found it beneficial. Mr. Pagni noted in 1999 the Clark County fiscal impact was about $4 million 

because majority of their water supply comes from surface water sources and far less expensive. 

Acting Chair Hartung asked Mr. Pagni to explain how the Clark County bill was written in 1999. Mr. 

Pagni explained the wording on the ballot and that sources indicated the wording confused the voters. 

Member Brekhus opposed the States preemption on local control and authority, and objected to the use of 

the water system as a medical delivery system. She appealed to Member Smith that Truckee Meadows 

Water Reclamation Facility (TMWRF) consider a fiscal note. 

Member Smith noted the main obstacle is agreement by the PLPT, and objected to lowering the population 

cap from 700,000 to 100,000 and it needs to be put to a vote of the people. 

Member Brekhus suggested that the Board position should be to let the voters decide. Mr. Pagni confirmed 

the law currently requires the vote of the people. 

Member Jardon advised Board position should be to watch and convey their concerns to the bill sponsors.  

Acting Chair Hartung asked if the Board can vote on the bill today and give direction to staff to provide 

information to customers. Mr. Pagni replied the Board could give direction today. Mr. Foree added that 

TMWA should provide information to the customers as soon as possible.  

Mr. Walker suggested the Board can oppose unless amended.  

Public Comment  

Kevin Dick, Washoe County District Health Chief, provided comment on the fluoridation bill AB 193 and 

provided supporting documentation (see Attachment). Mr. Dick requested the Board not oppose the bill. 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 5 of 10 

Member Duerr asked for Mr. Dick to explain the cost estimate and if the 15% of water supply was set by 

state law. Mr. Dick replied there were different approaches for fluoridating the TMWA system that was 

conducted in the study; provisions in the bill states if less than 15% of the water supply comes from wells, 

fluoridation is not required; the wells do not need fluoridation for a period during a drought; and 15% is 

stipulated in the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) and AB193. 

Member Duerr stated she would like to review of the cost estimate to see if it is possible to reduce it and 

bring it to the vote of the people. Her recommendation would be to continue to watch; if the people vote 

to fluoridate, it would be worth the investment. 

Mr. Dick mentioned he is looking forward to his meeting with TMWA to review the cost estimate study. 

Member Dahir clarified since this is a medical issue, if the voters agreed, would all costs have to be paid 

by TMWA or could the District Health Department offer some financial assistance. Mr. Dick replied they 

do not have the financial capability to support the rehabilitation costs.  

Acting Chair Hartung pointed out even if the fiscal cost was reduced by half, it would still result in a total 

of 7.5%, which includes the proposed 3% rate adjustment.  

Mr. Foree emphasized the bill as written, would require TMWA to install fluoridation at all sources of 

supply. 

Member Jardon cited three reasons to oppose the bill as written: expense, preemption of local authority 

and circumventing the vote of the people. 

Member Brekhus agreed with Member Jardon’s motion; many of her constituents are opposed to putting 

fluoride in the water and she will support them by also opposing AB 193. She pointed out that the Board 

of Health District should have presented their case locally a year ago, since it is a local issue, to discuss 

the question of fluoridating water in Washoe County, and coinciding with rate setting is untimely. 

Acting Chair Hartung noted some people are allergic to fluoride and that may need to be considered. He 

stated that he personally knew of at least one person that said they were allergic to Fluoride.  Mr. Dick 

replied he would like to be put in touch with that individual and stated that there are about 25 allergens in 

toothpaste products which have been confused with people being allergic to fluoride. 

Member Dahir stated he would like to watch this bill only because the voters should decide, and the Board 

should support their decision. 

Member Brekhus recommended getting this issue put on a ballot through Washoe County Commissioners. 

Mr. Gebhardt informed the Board that emailed highlights from Board meetings can be provided in an E-

Newsletter to inform the public. Mr. Foree suggested to the Board that staff can also put the information 

in the bill insert as well and Mr. Gebhardt confirmed it would be the same language as in the board meeting 

highlights. 

Upon motion by Member Jardon, second by Member Brekhus, which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board approved to not support AB 193, unless amended, and to include 

the board position in the bill insert and public communications. 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 6 of 10 

Upon motion by Member Brekhus, second by Member Herman, which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board approved to change the TMWA legislative subcommittee’s position 

on AB113 from Watch, to Watch and Support. 

 

8. DISCUSSION AND ACTION ON APPOINTMENT OR REAPPOINTMENT OF 

FOUR PERSONS TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE WESTERN REGIONAL 

WATER COMMISSION CONSISTING OF ONE TMWA BOARD MEMBER EACH 

FROM: THE RENO CITY COUNCIL, SPARKS CITY COUNCIL, WASHOE 

COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, AND ONE PERSON TO REPRESENT 

TMWA AS SUCCESSOR TO SOUTH TRUCKEE MEADOWS GENERAL 

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, FROM THE FOLLOWING LIST OF ELIGIBLE 

PERSONS: JENNY BREKHUS, JEANNE HERMAN, NEOMA JARDON, BOB 

LUCEY, RON SMITH, FOR TWO-YEAR TERMS ENDING MARCH 31, 2019 

Member Duerr requested clarification on item 4 in the staff report regarding the “South Truckee Meadows 

General Improvement District (STMGID) or its successor shall appoint one trustee from its membership.” 

Mr. Pagni reported Section 25 of the Western Regional Water Commission (WRWC) Act does not have 

that language of its membership with respect to its appointments by Sun Valley General Improvement 

District and STMGID, only that they have to be an elected official. 

Member Duerr asked if the agenda item has been adequately noticed and the appointment can be made 

from the pool of all elected officials. Mr. Pagni replied it is adequately noticed with respect to the pool on 

the agenda, but if she wished to consider other elected officials not on the agenda, they would have to 

bring it back for consideration at a future meeting.  

Member Brekhus noted Commissioner Lucey is the representative of the former STMGID customers, but 

all the members on the TMWA Board could also be appointed in this place. 

Upon motion by Member Hartung, second by Member Smith which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board voted to reappoint Bob Lucey to the Western Regional Water 

Commission representing the successor to the South Truckee Meadows 

General Improvement District. 

Upon motion by Member Hartung, second by Member Brekhus which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board voted to reappoint Ron Smith to the Western Regional Water 

Commission as the TMWA Board’s representative from the Sparks City 

Council. 

Member Brekhus commented she would like to continue serving on the WRWC. 

Member Jardon remarked she is interested in serving on the WRWC. 

 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 7 of 10 

Upon motion by Member Smith, second by Member Dahir which motion 

duly carried by five to two vote of the members present, with Members 

Brekhus and Duerr dissenting, the Board voted to appoint Neoma Jardon 

to the Western Regional Water Commission as the TMWA Board’s 

representative from the Reno City Council. 

Upon motion by Member Hartung, second by Member Smith which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board approved to reappoint Jeanne Herman to the Western Regional 

Water Commission as the TMWA Board’s representative from the 

Washoe County Board of Commissioners. 

 

Acting Chair Hartung called for a recess at 11:49 a.m. 

The TMWA Board meeting resumed at 11:55 a.m. 

Acting Chair Hartung proposed to hear agenda item 10 before agenda item 9. 

 

10. DISCUSSION AND ACTION ON ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION NO. 248: A 

RESOLUTION DESIGNATED BY THE SHORT TITLE “2017 REFUNDING BOND 

RESOLUTION” AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE BY THE AUTHORITY OF ITS 

“TRUCKEE MEADOWS WATER AUTHORITY, WATER REVENUE REFUNDING 

BONDS, SERIES 2017,” FOR THE PURPOSE OF DEFRAYING WHOLLY OR IN 

PART THE COST OF REFUNDING CERTAIN OUTSTANDING BONDS; 

PROVIDING THE FORM, TERMS, AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS AND THE 

SECURITY THEREFOR; PROVIDING FOR THE COLLECTION AND 

DISPOSITION OF REVENUES DERIVED FROM THE OPERATION OF THE 

AUTHORITY’S WATER SYSTEM; PLEDGING SUCH REVENUES TO THE 

PAYMENT OF THE BONDS; PROVIDING OTHER COVENANTS, AGREEMENTS, 

DETAILS AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO 

Michele Sullivan, TMWA Chief Financial Officer, introduced Jennifer Stern, Bond Counsel, who was 

present, and Thomas Toepfer, Public Financial Management (PFM) Senior Managing Consultant, who 

was on the phone, to answer any questions Board Members may have on the agenda item. Ms. Sullivan 

requested the Board adopt Resolution No. 248 for the 2017 Refunding Bond, which will refund a $202 

million 2007 Revenue Bond outstanding. Over $32 million in the debt reserve fund will be used to pay 

the bond down during the refunding, and staff expects to receive a premium and end up with a principal 

balance of $152 million; which is a $15 million, or 7.4%, present value savings. TMWA’s debt policy 

states that if more than 3% savings can be achieved, refunding needs to be considered. She stated the 

ratings presentations with Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s went well, and the ratings will be received 

by the end of the month. 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 8 of 10 

Acting Chair Hartung inquired what TMWA’s ratings are currently.  Ms. Sullivan replied AA. Acting 

Chair Hartung commented that the refunding was the fiscally responsible thing to do, given the current 

situation. 

Member Brekhus asked if the 2007 Bond of $202 million was from the original acquisition of TMWA, if 

$32 million was unrestricted cash and what the payment structure for the refunding was. Ms. Sullivan 

replied yes, they were advanced refunded in 2007; no, $32 million is restricted cash and on the release of 

the restriction will be used to pay down the debt; and the payment structure is level debt service. Mr. 

Toepfer replied the existing bonds are being paid at about $23.6 million per year in debt service for years 

2020-2030, during which the principal is paid; no principal, only interest ($9.5 million), is paid for the 

three years prior to 2020; with the refunding, TWMA expects an annual savings in debt service payments 

of $4 million for years 2020-2030. 

Upon motion by Member Smith, second by Member Dahir which motion 

duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the Board 

adopted Resolution No. 248: A resolution designated by the short title 

“2017 refunding bond resolution” authorizing the issuance by the 

authority of its “Truckee Meadows Water Authority, Water Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2017,” for the purpose of defraying wholly or in 

part the cost of refunding certain outstanding bonds; providing the form, 

terms, and conditions of the bonds and the security therefor; providing 

for the collection and disposition of revenues derived from the operation 

of the authority’s water system; pledging such revenues to the payment of 

the bonds; providing other covenants, agreements, details and other 

matters relating thereto. 

 

9. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR FIRST HALF FISCAL 

YEAR 2017 

Tabitha Carlisle, TMWA Financial Controller, presented on the first half FY 2017 financial performance. 

Ms. Carlisle referred to Attachment A-1, and noted water sales were higher than budget due to a dry 

summer; total operating revenues are $5.4 million more than the revised budget with hydroelectric 

revenues $0.1 million higher than budgeted due to high river flows.  Operating spending was $2.3 million 

under budget with a $0.5 million decrease in power being the main contributor. Ms. Carlisle noted it is 

mid-year and expect to see these operating costs expended by end of the fiscal year. She also noted TMWA 

received the last portion of the Truckee River Operating Agreement (TROA) grant from the Bureau of 

Reclamation for $1.2 million and the Contribution from Others of $1.2 million was from Scannell 

Properties for their payment of costs related to the Truckee Canyon Water Treatment Plant Expansion.  

Member Brekhus inquired about the Truckee Canyon Water Treatment Plant Expansion, where it was 

located and if it was oversized for future development. Scott Estes, TMWA Director of Engineering, 

replied no, it was not oversized for future development. The contribution from Scannell Properties was 

part of the new business process, which added new demand to the system by developing the Fed Ex 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 9 of 10 

property and because the existing system did not have a back-up well and only had a total capacity of 50 

gallons per minute (gpm). Mr. Foree added it was a special project for the Fed Ex property and the satellite 

water system includes an arsenic treatment facility, and TMWA inherited it as part of the merger. 

Ms. Carlisle continued with providing an overview of the cash flow; $19.8 million over budget, but quite 

a few capital improvement projects have not been spent as many have been delayed by weather; higher 

water sales than budgeted; and about $4.4 million in commercial paper was redeemed due water rights 

(will-serve) sales. 

Acting Chair Hartung inquired when staff expects to have all three hydro plants online. Mr. Nielson replied 

the Verdi Plant is online, but there have been significant delays at the Fleisch (penstock replacement) and 

Washoe Hydro (replacement of the spill structure) plants due to the snow and rain, which have created 

very difficult construction conditions. 

Member Dahir inquired if staff anticipate presenting project updates soon. Ms. Sullivan replied staff is 

working on updating the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), which will be presented at the March meeting. 

Ms. Carlisle provided an overview of net-position compared to prior year, indicating a $2.9 million gain 

in 2015 regarding the payment for TROA, which will not be a repeated event.  

Member Brekhus asked whether staff is considering placing commercial paper in a more long-term stable 

instrument, requested an overview of 2018-2023 revenues, debt as a percentage for each year and the debt 

refunding plan over the 5-year period, and inquired if the financial advisors approve the use of commercial 

paper. Ms. Sullivan replied her concerns can be addressed when staff presents the tentative budget, but 

the concept with commercial paper is a balance of how much cash is invested with how much is borrowed; 

and yes, TMWA’s financial advisors approve commercial paper because it is paid down with will-serve 

sales. 

Acting Chair Hartung commended PFM on their great efforts working with TMWA.  

 

11. DISCUSSION AND ACTION REGARDING APPOINTMENT OF, AND POSSIBLE 

APPROVAL OF CONTRACT WITH, TAMI FRUHWIRTH AS TMWA’S 

OMBUDSMAN 

Mr. Gebhardt presented the ombudsman contract for Board approval. 

Upon motion by Member Herman, second by Member Smith, which 

motion duly carried by unanimous consent of the members present, the 

Board approved the contract with Tammy Fruhwirth as TMWA’s 

ombudsman. 

 

12. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

Mr. Foree had nothing further to report. 

 



 

 

 

February 15, 2017 TMWA Board Minutes Page 10 of 10 

13. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There was no public comment. 

 

14. BOARD COMMENTS AND REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

There were no board comments. 

 

15. ADJOURNMENT 

With no further discussion, Acting Chair Hartung adjourned the meeting at 12:16 p.m. 

 

Approved by the TMWA Board of Directors in session on March 15, 2017. 

Sonia Folsom, Recording Secretary 

 




















	_2017.0215-BOD-Approved-Minutes
	2017.0215-Public-Comment-Attch-A
	2017.0215-Public-Comment-Attch-B
	2017.0215-Public-Comment-Attch-C

